

### **Dietary polyphenols and sleep modulation: Current evidence and perspectives**

Jara Pérez-Jiménez<sup>1-3</sup>, Kaitha Agnant<sup>3</sup>, Rosa M. Lamuela-Raventós<sup>4-5</sup>, Marie-Pierre St-Onge<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Dept. Metabolism and Nutrition, Institute of Food Science, Technology and Nutrition (ICTAN-CSIC), Madrid, Spain

<sup>2</sup> CIBER of Diabetes and Associated Metabolic Disease (CIBERDEM), ISCIII, Madrid, Spain

<sup>3</sup> Division of General Medicine and Center of Excellence for Sleep & Circadian Research, Department of Medicine, Columbia University Irving Medical Center, New York, NY 10032

<sup>4</sup> Dept. Nutrition, Food Sciences and Gastronomy, XIA, INSA-UB, School of Pharmacy and Food Sciences, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

<sup>5</sup> CIBER Physiopathology of Obesity and Nutrition (CIBER-OBN), ISCIII, Madrid, Spain

\* Corresponding author.

E-mail: [ms2554@cumc.columbia.edu](mailto:ms2554@cumc.columbia.edu)

Phone number: +1 212-305-9379

Postal address: 622 West 168<sup>th</sup> Street, PH9-103H

New York, NY 10032

## **Summary**

Polyphenols are plant compounds with several biological activities. This review aims to summarize current knowledge on the potential role of polyphenols in modulating sleep. A total of 28 preclinical studies, 12 intervention studies and three observational studies exploring the role of polyphenol intake on sleep were identified. From animal studies, 26 out of the 28 studies found beneficial effects of polyphenols on sleep architecture. Three out of four human observational studies found a beneficial association between polyphenol intake and sleep parameters. And, among clinical intervention studies, eight from a total of 12 studies found some beneficial effect of polyphenol intake on various sleep parameters, although some discrepancies between studies were found. Overall, emerging evidence suggests a benefit of polyphenol intake on sleep. Several mechanisms of action have been suggested, ranging from effects on neurotransmitters to an action through the gut-brain axis. However, more research in this field is needed, emphasizing the use of nutritional doses in mechanistic studies and interventions targeting participants with sleep problems. This would allow to elucidate whether an additional biological effect of polyphenols is modulation of sleep, a behavior associated with adverse health outcomes.

**Keywords:** sleep, insomnia, polyphenols, food bioactive compounds, clinical trials

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

A1R: Adenosine receptor 1

~~BART: Balloon analogue risk task~~

BMI: Body mass index

FFQ: Food frequency questionnaire

GABA: Gamma-aminobutyric acid

GABA<sub>A</sub>- BZD: Benzodiazepine site of GABA<sub>A</sub>

~~GLP1: Glucagon-like peptide-1~~

NREMS: Non-rapid eye movement sleep

OR: Odds ratios

PSQI: Pittsburgh sleep quality index

REMS: Rapid eye movement sleep

~~SD: Sprague-Dawley~~

SEM: Standard error of mean

SOL: Sleep onset latency

SWS: Slow wave sleep

ZT: Zeitgeber time

## 1. Introduction

High quality, regular sleep of adequate duration is integral to health and well-being (1). Accumulating evidence suggest associations between insufficient or variable sleep and risk of obesity (2) , type 2 diabetes (3) and stroke (4). Indeed, sleep was recently included as one of the eight parameters suggested by the American Heart Association for assessing cardiometabolic health (5) based on its validation as a predictive parameter for cardiovascular outcomes in a prospective study (5). [Similarly, circadian misalignment, i.e., a desynchrony between biological clock and meal/sleep timing leads to a disruption of numerous physiological processes, eventually increasing the risk of several non-communicable diseases.](#) (6).

Sleep characteristics are influenced by various factors (7) including diet (8). Plant-based diets (9), in particular the Mediterranean diet (10), may have beneficial effects on sleep due to their combination of nutrients implicated in sleep regulation and modulation of colonic microbiota, leading to a gut-brain axis ~~effect~~ ~~[(7,9)]-effect~~. Polyphenols, a wide family of secondary metabolites present in foods of ~~vegetal-plant~~ origin, are a key constituent of these diets.

Recently, research on polyphenols has focused not only on cardiometabolic benefits (11, 12), but also on their potential neuromodulating effects. A neuromodulating effect of polyphenols can be derived from their antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities, regulation of neuronal signaling cascades, and improvement of peripheral and cerebral blood flow (13). Several phenolic metabolites [from microbiota](#) have been reported to be able to cross the blood-brain barrier, e.g. 5-(hydroxyphenyl)- $\gamma$ -valerolactone-sulfate (14). Since the colon is a key organ for polyphenol transformation, where a bidirectional polyphenol-microbiota interaction takes place (15), polyphenols could be an additional player in the postulated gut-brain axis (16, 17). Based on their metabolic fate, distribution and biological functions, polyphenols may modulate central nervous system processes.

Sleep is a centrally regulated process and, as such, studies have explored the role of dietary polyphenols in sleep modulation. The aim of this review is to provide an overview of current knowledge on the potential association between polyphenol intake and sleep modulation.

## 2. Current evidence for a role of polyphenols on sleep modulation

A bibliography search was performed in Scopus database with the terms “polyphenol\* OR phenol\* OR flavonoid\* OR tannin\* OR procyanidin\* OR proanthocyanidin” and “sleep” appearing either in the title, the abstract or the keywords. Preclinical, clinical, and observational studies in which sleep parameters were measured as outcome after supplementation or exposure to polyphenols were collected.

### 2.1 Animal studies

A total of 28 animal studies were identified, mostly focused on testing the [activity of effects of acute supplementation with](#) various polyphenols, including phlorotannins (18-22), flavonoids (23-28), stilbenes (29), chalcones (30, 31), hydroxycinnamic acids (32-36), lignans (37-41) and polyphenol-rich extracts/foods (27, 42-45), on sleep architecture compared with well-known sedatives such as benzodiazepines (**Table 1**). This table also includes the most common food/plant sources for each one of the tested compounds (46, 47). [Twenty-six of the 28 animal studies found that polyphenols increased sleep duration or decreased sleep onset latency \(SOL\). Studies consistently observe that polyphenols increased non-rapid-eye movement sleep \(NREMS\)NREMS to a level similar to lower-dose benzodiazepines; this effect is physiologically relevant, since it is known that NREMS and REMS are associated with distinctive functions \(48\). In contrast to benzodiazepines, polyphenols did not decrease delta power, a specific parameter defining NREMS; interestingly, it was recently highlighted that both decreases and increases in delta power could indicate a higher sleep quality due to various factors \(49\). Finally, when tested, a dose-dependent effect was found \(17-19, 23, 26, 29, 32-37, 39, 41, 43\).](#)

### 2.1.1 Phlorotannins

Five studies of phlorotannins, the characteristic phenolic structure of seaweeds, have been published, all showing some benefit for sleep. Three (18-20) used a pentobarbital-induced sleep test and measured ~~sleep onset latency (SOL)~~ or sleep duration compared to a non-supplemented group (control). ~~In all animal studies, focused on these parameters, they were visually recorded by the researchers, with sleep latency SOL corresponding to the period from pentobarbital injection to the time of sleep onset, and sleeping duration being defined as the difference in time between the loss and recovery of the righting reflex. In particular, Ecklonia cava Kjellman extract significantly increased sleep duration and decreased sleep onset latency (SOL) in Sprague-Dawley (SD) rats compared to a control group non-supplemented group (control) when tested at four doses (100, 250, 500, 1 000 mg/kg) (18). Doses  $\geq$ 250 mg/kg generated an effect similar to diazepam (18). The major compounds identified in this extract were eckol, eckstolonol, dieckol and triphloethol A, which justified further studies with the isolated compounds. When tested individually, eckstolonol (19) (125, 250, 500 mg/kg) and triphloethol A (20) (5, 10, 25 and 50 mg/kg) reduced SOL and increased sleep duration in mice compared to a control group non-supplemented group (control) (19, 20) or a vehicle-treated group. Also, polysomnography recordings during usual sleep consistently show increases in non-rapid-eye-movement sleep (NREMS) after supplementation with dieckol (50, 100 and 150 mg/kg) (22), without altering rapid-eye movement sleep (REMS). Although the effects of phlorotannins (20) on SOL and NREMS in mice were similar to those of zolpidem, phlorotannins did not reduce delta power during NREMS, as observed with zolpidem, demonstrating a better sleep profile resulting from phlorotannin supplementation. Lastly, in a mice-caffeine-induced sleep disruption model in mice, a phlorotannin supplement (500 mg/kg) had a similar effect to zolpidem (10 mg/kg) in decreasing SOL and increasing NREMS, without altering REMS (21).~~

### 2.1.2 Flavonoids

Con formato: Fuente: (Predeterminada) Arial

Con formato: Fuente: (Predeterminada) Arial

Con formato: Fuente: (Predeterminada) Arial

Studies find increases in sleep duration and decreases in SOL, in a dose-dependent manner, when [animals-mice or rats](#) are supplemented with flavones spinosin ( $\geq 10$  mg/kg) (24, 25), [rats with](#) linarin (7 and 14 mg/kg) (23), and [mice with](#) rhusflavone (25 and 50 mg/kg) (27). Spinosin decreases SOL at doses  $\geq 5$  mg/kg when pentobarbital was provided at a sub-hypnotic dose. Polysomnography data from studies with baicalin, another flavone, showed increases in both NREMS (specifically slow-wave sleep [SWS]) and REMS [in Sprague-Dawley rats](#). The authors suggested a biphasic effect of baicalin (26) on sleep, causing a decrease in SWS during the light (inactive) period and an increase in SWS and REMS during the dark (active) period. Further research is needed to establish optimal timing of administration for somnogenic effects.

One study focused on the flavanol epigallocatechin-3-O-gallate (5-20 mg/kg) (28), showing increased sleep duration and decreased SOL in a [mice](#) model of pentobarbital-induced sleep compared to [control-a non-supplemented group \(control\)](#). Also, when pentobarbital was provided at a sub-hypnotic dose, epigallocatechin-3-O-gallate increased sleep duration compared to [control-a non-supplemented group \(control\)](#).

### **2.1.3 Stilbenes**

One study tested the main stilbene compound, resveratrol (29). This study supplemented a non-human primate gray mouse lemur (*Microcebus murinus*) with resveratrol (200 mg/kg) for 3 wk; [recordings of sleep-wake rhythms were obtained by wireless telemetry](#). Resveratrol increased the proportion of active-wake time, an effect occurring mainly during the resting phase of the sleep-wake cycle. The increase in active-wake time with resveratrol supplementation was accompanied by a 95% reduction of paradoxical sleep and 38% reduction in SWS. The authors suggested a possible circadian rhythm-dependent difference in the extent of the effect of resveratrol on the 24-h sleep-wake rhythm, in line with the biphasic behavior observed with baicalin (26).

#### 2.1.4 Chalcones

Two studies tested isoliquiritigenin (30, 31). In a ~~mice~~ pentobarbital-induced sleep model ~~in mice~~, this chalcone increased sleep duration and decreased SOL (25 and 50 mg/kg) (30). Polysomnography recordings after supplementation with the highest dose showed that isoliquiritigenin increased NREMS by 61% during the first 3 h after administration, an effect equivalent to that of 2 mg/kg diazepam. However, diazepam also caused a decrease in delta activity during NREMS which was not observed during supplementation with isoliquiritigenin (31), similar to findings with spinosin (20).

#### 2.1.5 Hydroxycinnamic acids

Ferulic acid supplementation in mice, before pentobarbital-induced sleep (33), caused a dose-dependent decrease in SOL and increase in sleep duration starting at doses  $\geq 15$  mg/kg with a dose of 30 mg/kg having similar effects as 2 mg/kg diazepam. Similarly, rosmarinic acid supplementation (0.5-30 mg/kg) increased sleep duration and decreased SOL ~~in mice~~ compared to a ~~control non-supplemented group (control)~~ (35, 36).

Despite these positive results with ferulic and rosmarinic acids, ~~there are also~~ two studies ~~with other hydroxycinnamic acids~~ in which no effects on sleep were observed ~~were performed with polyphenols belonging to the class of hydroxycinnamic acids~~ (32, 34). ~~Thus, v~~Verbascoside supplementation at considerably high doses (399 and 798 mg/kg) did not modify sleep duration or NREMS ~~in Sprague-Dawley rats~~ during regular sleep (32). Also, chlorogenic acid (500 mg/kg) and caffeic acid (200 mg/kg) supplementation increased SOL ~~in Sprague-Dawley rats~~ (34) ~~these doses were~~. ~~The authors~~ ~~However, when compared to doses these doses with the ones needed by caffeic acid?ine to increase SOL, and they these doses were~~ 50-fold and 20-fold higher, respectively, ~~than the one needed by caffeine to increase SOL~~.

#### 2.1.6 Lignans

Con formato: Resaltar



The lignan honokiol has been explored in three studies (37-39). In a [mice](#)-pentobarbital-induced sleep model [in mice](#), honokiol increased sleep duration at doses of 0.1 and 0.2 mg/kg (37) compared to [control-a non-supplemented group \(control\)](#). Another study using a usual sleep model found that honokiol decreased SOL (20 mg/kg) and increased NREMS (10 and 20 mg/kg) similar to diazepam (6 mg/kg). Since a limitation for the use of honokiol is its low oral bioavailability, a study tested whether [high-bioavailabilityhigh bioavailability](#) honokiol microparticles would have sleep benefits. This study showed a 6.5-fold increase in maximal blood concentration of honokiol in the microparticle formulation compared to free honokiol. NREMS [in Sprague-Dawley rats](#) was correspondingly increased, along with a decrease in the number of wake episodes (39) compared to vehicle. Compared to diazepam treatment, honokiol microparticle administration led to longer deep NREMS.

Magnolol, another lignan, also increased sleep duration in a [mice](#)-pentobarbital-induced sleep model (40) and decreased SOL and increased total amount and number of REMS/NREMS episodes in a model of [mice](#) usual sleep compared to [control-a non-supplemented group \(control\)](#) (41).

### **2.1.7 Complex extracts or whole foods**

Some studies tested extract combinations or foods. Three studies used pentobarbital-induced sleep animal models to show that supplementation [to mice](#) with a *Glycyrrhiza glabra* extract (containing phenolic acids and flavones) (42), with *Rhus parviflora* (providing mainly phenolic acids) (27) or with instant jujube powder (rich in flavonoids from different subclasses) (45) significantly increased sleep duration and decreased SOL compared to [control-a non-supplemented group \(control\)](#). One study showed that supplementation with peanut stem and leaf for one week significantly increased total sleep, SWS and REMS compared to [control-a non-supplemented group \(control\)](#) in a [mice](#) usual sleep model (44).

Finally, one study (43) induced psychophysiological stress in [animals-mice](#) in which disrupted circadian rhythms was induced for 30 days to generate chronic sleep disorders. Supplementation with pure cocoa during this period restored the amplitude reduction of day-night activity rhythms [as measured by polygraphic recordings](#), compared to ~~control~~ [a non-supplemented group \(control\)](#).

### **2.1.8 Main findings from animal studies**

~~Animal studies (Table 1) have mostly focused on the effects of acute polyphenol supplementation before sleep induction. Twenty-six of the 28 animal studies found that polyphenols increased sleep duration or decreased SOL. Studies consistently observe that polyphenols increased NREMS to a level similar to lower-dose benzodiazepines but with greater delta power. When tested, a dose-dependent effect was found [17-19, 23, 26, 29, 32-37, 39, 41, 43].~~

## **2.2 Human studies**

### **2.2.1 Observational studies**

Four observational studies examined associations between polyphenol intake and sleep with contradicting findings, ~~as summarized in (-Table 2)~~. Polyphenol intake was assessed using food frequency questionnaires (FFQ) and Phenol-Explorer database; sleep measures differed. One cross-sectional study of randomly selected adults assessed sleep using the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)(50). ~~Inverse-Significant ( $p < 0.05$ )~~ associations between polyphenol intake and sleep quality [as assessed by PSQI](#) were found for the class of hydroxycinnamic acids (~~Oodds ratios, OR, 0.67 Q4 vs Q1, 95% CI: 0.46, 0.98~~) and for some individual polyphenols (naringenin: ~~with OR for Q4 0.66, 95% CI: 0.46, 0.95;~~ apigenin: ~~with OR for Q4 0.65, 95% CI: 0.44, 0.90;~~ matairesinol: ~~with OR for Q4 0.66, 95% CI 0.46, 0.96~~). When participants were categorized by weight status, associations were also observed for other individual lignans (~~with-OR for Q4 0.54, 95% CI 0.31, 0.94~~) and for total polyphenols (~~with-OR for Q4 0.70, 95% CI 0.39, 1.25~~) in adults with normal weight. No associations were observed in participants with overweight/obesity.

Con formato: Fuente: Negrita

Con formato: Fuente: Sin Negrita

Con formato: Fuente: Cursiva

Con formato: Fuente: Cursiva

However, the study included many tests of association with no adjustments for multiple comparisons, raising concerns about the robustness of the findings.

Among 92 young Saudi females with and without obesity and mostly poor sleep quality (82% of sample), total polyphenol intake higher than the median (>236 mg polyphenols/1,000 kcal/day) was ~~associated~~ significantly associated (OR 0.24, 95% CI: 0.07, 0.83) with better sleep quality, using PSQI, after adjusting for age and BMI (51). And, in a study in 278 Iranian women with overweight/obesity, ~~a trend towards an inverse marginally significant (p = 0.074) association (p = 0.074)~~ was found between polyphenol intake and ~~sleep quality as assessed by~~ PSQI (52).

Con formato: Fuente: Sin Cursiva

Con formato: Fuente: Cursiva

The other observational study was a prospective study of 13,958 UK females followed for four years (53). Sleep duration during weekdays or weekends was self-reported. Fruit and vegetable consumption and total polyphenol intake were ~~inversely associated~~ significantly and inversely associated with sleep duration: one additional gram of total polyphenols ~~from fruits and vegetables~~ was ~~associated~~ significantly associated with 18 min shorter sleep. The authors highlighted that effect sizes were small and the results may not be clinically relevant. These results conflict with other observational studies showing an association between the Mediterranean diet, known to have a high fruit and vegetable content, and longer sleep duration (54, 55). Also, since daily polyphenol intake in several populations has been estimated to be  $\leq 1$  g when non-extractable polyphenols are not included (56, 57), the relevance of a model based on the incorporation of one additional gram of polyphenols is questionable. It is also important to note that adverse effects have been reported when polyphenol intakes are above nutritional doses (58). This could also be the case for sleep modulation. Overall, this shows the need for additional studies.

### **2.2.2 Intervention studies**

Eight of 12 identified intervention studies found a significant effect of polyphenol supplementation compared to placebo/control groups (unless otherwise specified) in at least one sleep-related

outcome (Table 23). The studies reporting beneficial effects on sleep outcomes used doses 20-600 mg/d and they found with improvements in at least one sleep parameter: better self-reported sleep quality [57-59, 61-63, 65], decrease in SOL [56], decrease in wakefulness after sleep onset [61], increased sleep efficiency [57], and reduced nocturnal awakening [57]. While the studies reporting no effect on sleep tested doses 50-900 mg/d, and sleep was measured either by objective measurement (59, 60) [66] or self-reported questionnaire (PSQI) (61, 62) [60].

**Comentado [JP11]:** For Katiha: Current references 70 and 72

Chlorogenic acid (5-caffeoylquinic acid), a hydroxycinnamic acid characteristic of coffee was given in a daily dose of 600 mg to nine healthy participants (four males and five females, mean age 25.7 y) for five days, in a double-blind placebo-controlled cross-over design (63). All participants had good quality sleep based on PSQI. Chlorogenic acid significantly shortened SOL, measured with polysomnography (from 15.6 ± (SEM) 4.5 min to 8.7 SEM± 2.7 min), by seven minutes with no impact on sleep stages or wake after sleep onset. Chlorogenic acid intake led to higher parasympathetic activity, measured from heart-rate variability, a parameter associated with sleep architecture, during sleep, compared to placebo (999 SD 77 vs 919 SD 54, respectively) (64). Chlorogenic acid enhanced parasympathetic activity measured from heart rate variability during sleep (60). In another double-blind placebo-controlled parallel study with healthy males, participants received either placebo or a mixture of caffeoylquinic acids (300 mg/d) for two weeks (65). At the end of the study, supplemented participants reported significantly lower fatigue and higher sleep quality, as measured by visual analogue scales. The participants also exhibited and had significantly increased actigraphy-measured sleep efficiency ( $p = 0.046$ ) and reduced nocturnal awakenings ( $p = 0.039$ ).

**Comentado [MS2]:** Reduction in HRV is not a good thing... Are you sure?

**Comentado [JP13R2]:** Sorry, I exchanged values between control and supplemented group

**Comentado [MS4]:** Should you mention here that PSQI was not improved? This is reference noted as not finding benefit of polyphenol on sleep in paragraph above.

**Comentado [JP15R4]:** Indeed, this was one of the references where there was a problem. Ref 60 (Chouchou 2014) is added to support the idea that heart-rate variability has been shown to be associated with sleep architecture. The reference for this study is 59 (Park 2017), which is provided some lines above.

Ellagic acid, a phenolic acid belonging to the hydroxybenzoic acid family, was tested in a randomized double-blind cross-over trial in 44 patients, aged 24-55 y, with type 2 diabetes and good sleep quality (66). Participants were given 180 mg of ellagic acid or placebo for eight weeks.

Based on self-reporting, Ellagic acid significantly improved sleep quality as assessed by PSQI

(score from 8.86  $\pm$ SD 2.07 to 5.39  $\pm$ SD 1.11), increased sleep duration (from 5.69  $\pm$ SD 1.2 h to 7.47  $\pm$ SD 2.1 h), and efficiency (from 8.8  $\pm$ SD 16.1% to 88.0  $\pm$ SD 19.0%), and reduced disturbances (score from 2.1  $\pm$ SD 0.9 to 0.9  $\pm$ SD 0.1), SOL (from 52.1  $\pm$ SD 14.2 min to 29.2  $\pm$ SD 9.1 min), use of sleep medication (from 2.3  $\pm$ SD 0.7 times/week to 0.9  $\pm$ SD 0.1 times/week), and daytime dysfunction (from score 2.0  $\pm$ SD 0.3 to 0.7  $\pm$ SD 0.1).

Two studies tested resveratrol. One was performed in patients with hepatitis C supplemented ~~at~~ with a dose of 19.8 mg/d, or placebo, for 12 months, with a randomized parallel arm design. Significant improvements in sleep quality assessed by PSQI and sleepiness ratings, measured by Epworth Sleepiness Scale, were observed at six and 12 months; for instance, at 12 months PSQI score was 16.1  $\pm$ SD 3.2 ~~at~~ in the control group vs 10.2  $\pm$ SD 2.4 ~~at~~ in the supplemented group (67). On the contrary, in a parallel-arm, double-blind clinical trial with 41 adults with overweight (24 males aged 40-70 years and 17 postmenopausal females aged 50-70 years) (61), sleep quality as assessed by PSQI was not improved from supplementation with 150 mg/d resveratrol ~~for six months, supplemented at 150 mg/d for six months~~, compared to placebo. However, this study was not designed to evaluate effects of resveratrol on sleep *a priori*.

The other seven studies tested polyphenol mixtures or foods. Regarding extracts, a phlorotannin-rich supplement was provided to 24 participants (13 males, 11 females), aged 21-44 years (68), with self-reported sleep disturbances (routine difficulty falling sleep, frequent waking during the night or awakening in the morning feeling tired) but no history of sleep disorders or severe insomnia. In this randomized double-blind parallel trial, participants consumed 500 mg/d of either the supplement or the placebo for one week. Sleep quality was assessed by questionnaires and polysomnography. Phlorotannin extract supplementation significantly increased sleep duration and sleep maintenance based on PSQI, ~~at the same time while it and~~ decreased wakefulness after sleep onset as measured by polysomnography but did not improve self-reported sleep quality.

Con formato: Fuente: Sin Cursiva

Another tested extract was HolisFiit®, a commercial product containing a mixture of phenolic compounds (90 mg of (-)-epigallocatechin 3-O-gallate, 80 mg of naringin and 1.5 mg of anthocyanins, among others). This supplement was tested in a randomized double-blind parallel trial on 32 overweight males and females aged 30-50 years (69). Participants received a daily dose of 250 mg of HolisFiit® or placebo. Polyphenol supplementation significantly improved five of the eight items on the Athens Insomnia Scale, including 38% reduction in awakening during the night and 43% improvement in sleep quality. The third study evaluated a polyphenol botanical blend, containing 120 mg of polyphenols with at least 65 mg of the combination of rosmarinic acid and epigallocatechin gallate, (-)-epigallocatechin 3-O-gallate in 89 healthy males and females aged 22-50 years (70). Participants received one daily dose or placebo for 30 days in a randomized crossover design. The polyphenol blend significantly improved sleep quality (score from 6.37 ±SD 1.05 to 7.33 ±SD 1.09), measured using a diary where higher scores signify better quality sleep (score on a scale of from 0 to 10). It also it reduced insomnia symptoms morning sleepiness (from score of 5.57 ±SD 1.84 to 4.56 ±SD 1.68). At the same time, it significantly increased sleep duration as measured by polysomnography (from 395.6 ±SD 67.384 min to 425.5 ±SD 40.9), and significantly improved some elements of neurocognitive functioning, such as N-Back Accuracy or Balloon Analogues Risk Task (BART)-optimal pumps difference. Finally, supplementation to healthy subjects with a spearmint extract (900 mg/d with at least a 14% of rosmarinic acid and at least a 24% of total polyphenols) for 90 days did not improve sleep quality (62).

Con formato: Fuente: Cursiva

Con formato: Sin Resaltar

One study tested the impact of grape juice (rich in flavanols, flavonols, hydroxybenzoic acids, hydroxycinnamic acids and stilbenes) on sleep in females with breast cancer (71). The intervention group had a reduction in sleep disorder scale score after five weeks, although there were no differences between groups for overall PSQI score. It was not possible to get a full English version of this study, so no detailed information on the participant characteristics or on the

polyphenol dose was available. One other study found no beneficial effects of polyphenol intake, from oolong tea containing 48.5 mg of catechins, on sleep [parameters-architecture assessed by polysomnography](#) in healthy males, aged 20-56 years, as compared to a placebo (59). No differences in sleep architecture were observed between oolong tea and placebo, assessed by polysomnography. Importantly, oolong tea contains caffeine and theophylline, which might counteract polyphenol effect (72). And another study compared daily consumption of green tea or low caffeine green tea ( $\geq 300$  mL/d) by healthy adults for seven days (60). [Supplementation with low caffeine green tea did not lead to differences in sleep parameters compared to regular green tea. However, it should be noted that no polyphenol-free supplement was evaluated in this study and baseline values were not reported. Thus, it is unknown whether the supplements either did not influence sleep or equally influenced sleep. Future studies should report baseline values for outcomes and strive to include a polyphenol-free control.](#) ~~Supplementation with low caffeine green tea did not modify any of the sleep parameters measured with polysomnography. However, it should be highlighted that no polyphenol-free supplement was evaluated in this study.~~

~~In summary, from the 13 clinical intervention studies, four found no effect on sleep, with doses 50-900 mg/d, either by objective measures [66] or self-reported questionnaire (PSQI) [60]. The other eight studies, with doses 20-600 mg/d, found improvements in at least one sleep parameter: self-reported sleep quality [57-59, 61-63, 65], decrease in SOL [56], decrease in wakefulness after sleep onset [61], increased sleep efficiency [57], and reduced nocturnal awakening [57].~~

### **3. Potential mechanisms of actions of polyphenols on sleep regulation**

#### **3.1 Specific sleep-related mechanisms**

Many animal studies described in section two attempted to elucidate the molecular mechanisms supporting the sleep promoting activities of the tested polyphenols. The most plausible appears to be related to gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), the main neurotransmitter involved in

decreasing brain excitability. Polyphenols can exert a positive allosteric modulation of the benzodiazepine site of GABA<sub>A</sub> (GABA<sub>A</sub>-BZD) receptor. This was shown, for instance, in *in vitro* studies where the lignans honokiol and magnalol (20 and 50 μM) increased chloride influx in primary culture of cerebellar granule cells, leading to a selective increase of the GABA receptor α-subunit expression, while no effect was observed on the abundance of β or γ-subunits (37, 40). This agrees with findings that polyphenols exert similar effects to those of diazepam (18, 20, 42) or zolpidem (22) in rodent models. Indeed, binding affinity studies have shown that certain polyphenols, such as the chalcone isoliquiritigenin, have a higher affinity for GABA<sub>A</sub>-BZD receptor (30). Finally, cell culture studies showed that some polyphenols, such as apigenin and epigallocatechin gallate, were able to enhance GABA responses caused by diazepam, exhibiting a second order modulatory action. And, it was recently shown that rosmarinic acid was able to bind adenosine receptor 1 (A1R), which did not take place in the presence of A1R antagonists; this mechanism should be further explored (36).

Dopaminergic and serotonergic pathways have been explored as potential systems involved in the role of polyphenols on sleep modulation. The dopaminergic system was dismissed as a viable explanation since spinosin did not alter the sleep decrease observed after three days of treatment with L-DOPA (3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine) (24). In contrast, two animal studies observed that spinosin and ferulic acid showed synergic effects with 5-hydroxytryptophan (5-HTP) (24, 33), the serotonin precursor in melatonin synthesis. Moreover, both compounds inhibited para-chlorophenylalanine-induced suppression of the hypnotic effects of pentobarbital, which occurs via tryptophan hydroxylase blockade, the rate-limiting enzyme in serotonin biosynthesis. Although further studies are needed, mechanistic approaches have evidenced that this polyphenol action would be related to postsynaptic 5-HT<sub>1a</sub> receptor (25).

Another mechanism of action could be related to improvements in endothelial dysfunction, in particular flow mediated dilation and augmentation index. This role of polyphenols has been



widely shown in intervention studies (73) resulting in an approved health claim for increased flow-mediated dilation for cocoa flavanols in Europe (74). Flow-mediated dilatation is associated with better perceived sleep quality and greater REMS (75). Also, it has been suggested that nitric oxide-mediated vasodilation in the brain facilitates REMS (76). Thus, regulation of vasodilation by polyphenols, perhaps particularly flavanols, could also improve sleep quality.

Finally, an aspect to be further explored is the potential role of polyphenols in the regulation of sleep-related genes. One of the animal studies assessed in this review showed that cocoa supplementation increased hypothalamic mRNA expression of *Hspa1*, a gene that encodes HSP70 and is associated with sleep regulation (43). Indeed, this agrees with some other animal studies not focused on sleep outcomes and thus excluded from this review, but which that observed that polyphenol supplementation was significantly with a significant increased expression of certain sleep-related genes with polyphenol supplementation. In particular, a higher expression of clock genes (such as *Clock*, *Sir1*, *Per1*, *Per2*, *Per3*, *Cry 1* or *Rora*) either in the liver or the hypothalamus after polyphenol supplementation has been observed in murine models of circadian rhythm disorders (77, 78). -Also, resveratrol supplementation in a high-fat diet rat model restored the alterations in the expression of *Rev-Erba* to those ones present in the liver of rats fed with standard diet (79). Interestingly, the increase of liver *Per1* expression observed in mice supplemented with cocoa procyanidins at zeitgeber time (ZT) 3 took place through the glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP1)-signaling pathway, a process known to be regulated by polyphenols (80). Finally, grape seed procyanidin supplementation to rats at ZT0 reduced the hypothalamus expression level of *Nampt* as compared to a non-supplemented group, which was concomitant with an increase in circulating melatonin levels; these effects were not observed when supplementation took place at ZT12 (81).

### 3.2 Contribution of other polyphenol biological actions

Con formato: Fuente: Cursiva

Con formato: Fuente: Cursiva

Con formato: Fuente: Cursiva

Con formato: Fuente: Cursiva

Con formato: Fuente: Cursiva

Con formato: Fuente: Cursiva

Con formato: Fuente: Cursiva

Con formato: Fuente: Cursiva

Con formato: Fuente: Cursiva

Con formato: Fuente: Cursiva

Other well-known biological actions of polyphenols may also indirectly affect sleep. Polyphenols have bidirectional interactions with colonic bacteria. Polyphenols stimulate the growth of beneficial bacteria, showing a prebiotic effect; and microbiota yield new metabolites from original phenolic structures. These phenolic-derived metabolites are absorbable and exhibit biological activities, called postbiotics. At the same time, there is an increasing understanding of the multiple direct and indirect mechanisms by which the microbiota-gut-brain axis may affect sleep architecture and sleep disorders (82). Postbiotics derived from polyphenols, known to be absorbed and exert biological actions, can interact with GABA<sub>A</sub>-BZD receptors to impact sleep. Also, polyphenols can stimulate the generation of serotonin from microbiota effects (83). Polyphenols have been shown in animal models to ameliorate the imbalanced intestinal microbial environment induced circadian rhythm disorder and, indeed, this modulation of microbiota was concomitant with an adjustment of the expression of core clock genes *Csnk1d*, *Clock*, *Per3*, *Cry2*, and *Bhlhe41*, altered by circadian disruption (84). Studies should be designed to establish how the polyphenol-microbiota bidirectional interaction may influence sleep regulation through gut brain-axis.

### **3.3 Beneficial aspects of polyphenols in adverse health effects of poor sleep**

Other studies have tested the effects of polyphenol supplementation on the alterations caused by sleep deprivation (85-94) (**Supplementary Table S1**). Ten animal studies found that supplementation with polyphenols belonging to flavanols, flavonols, anthocyanins, flavanones and ellagitannins, and complex extracts from tea or grape seed, induced local antioxidant (85-89) and anti-inflammatory (88-90) actions in the brain. In all studies, supplementation with polyphenols restored at least some of the disturbances in health outcomes caused by sleep disorders. Similarly, an intervention study where participants consumed a flavanol-rich chocolate (520 mg) or a common chocolate (88 mg) after one night of total sleep deprivation found that consumption of the flavanol-rich chocolate decreased subjective sleepiness, counteracted vascular impairment, and restored working memory performance induced by total sleep

deprivation (95). These restorative effects, in the context of sleep alterations, are physiologically relevant. In pathologies that involve sleep disorders, such as Alzheimer's disease, the regulatory local effect of polyphenols in ameliorating oxidative stress and inflammation deserves further attention. Similarly, improvements in negative outcomes of sleep deprivation or poor-quality sleep, such as restoration in cognitive or behavioral aspects, and markers of inflammation or oxidation, are of importance given the prevalence of insufficient sleep in the population. Finally, since apnea involves a higher oxidation status, it has been suggested that polyphenols, due to their antioxidant action, might have a beneficial health effect (96, 97).

#### 4. Perspectives

This review highlights emerging evidence of a potential beneficial role of polyphenol intake on sleep. The integrated analysis of animals and human studies shows as promising phenolic compounds some widespread constituents, such as caffeoylquinic acids, ferulic acid, ellagic acid or naringenin. Other tested phenolic compounds are present in more specific foods, such as rosmarinic acid (in rosemary), punicalagin (in pomegranate), [epigallocatechin 3-O-gallate \(-\)](#) [epigallocatechin 3-O-gallate](#) (in green tea) or phlorotannins (in seaweeds), but it is feasible to include them in a common diet. Lastly, there were some phenolic compounds isolated from specific plants or seaweeds, i.e., honokiol, linarin or spinosin which are not commonly ingested. This variety of phenolic structures showing effects on sleep outcomes indicates that a plant-based varied diet, may provide enough polyphenols with sleep-regulating properties, especially since some of the suggested mechanisms of actions for polyphenols on sleep seem to be shared by the different polyphenol families. However, the detailed analysis of the existing literature reveals various flaws that deserve attention in upcoming research.

In animal studies, doses ranged from  $5 \times 10^{-6}$  to 800 mg/kg in rat models (32, 93), and from 0.05 to 780 mg/kg in mice models (37, 85). Applying corresponding conversion values (98), these doses would be equivalent to  $6 \times 10^{-5}$ -8,000 and 1-15,000 mg/d, respectively, for a human adult

Con formato: Fuente: Cursiva

Con formato: Sin Resaltar

with a body weight of 60 kg. Since intakes for individual polyphenols have been reported in humans to range from 0.01 to 200 mg/d (57), this means that some of the studies have been performed outside of the nutritional range. These aspects should be considered when extrapolating the results to humans and estimating the potential influence on sleep parameters of the phenolic compound studied, as consumed within the usual diet or as dietary supplements.

In human studies, a clear definition of inclusion/exclusion criteria related to sleep characteristics is necessary. As such, it is important to have a proper baseline sleep evaluation and to consider aspects such as chronotype, shift work, use of sleep aids, existence of pathologies, and medication use that may affect sleep. In one study, participants were allowed to use sleep aids as needed during the development of the study, and their weekly use was recorded as a study outcome (66). Specifically, since only one of the intervention studies was focused on participants with sleep problems, more efforts should be directed towards studies in this population. Variations in definition of sleep quality were also noted with some studies fixing a minimum PSQI score of three (70) or five as inclusion cut points. Second, studies should use validated techniques for measuring polyphenol intake and sleep outcomes. Individual polyphenol intake assessment is preferred to total polyphenol intake, since it may provide useful information on specific structure-effect aspects. Third, objective measures of sleep should be included alongside self-reported outcomes. Only five of the intervention studies included objective sleep measurements, such as polysomnography, actigraphy, thermometry or autonomic nervous system activity evaluation based on electrocardiograms (59, 60, 63, 65, 68). Fourth, future studies should establish sleep parameters as primary outcomes with appropriate sample size determinations. Among intervention studies, four (59, 65, 69, 95), did not provide a sample size calculation, eight (59, 62, 63, 66, 67, 69, 70, 95) did not mention the primary outcome, sleep parameters were a secondary outcome (61) in one and, in some, sample size was based on non-sleep related parameters, such as malondialdehyde variation (66) or salivary  $\alpha$ -amylase (60). Fifth, to emulate a nutritional and

not a pharmacological approach, studies should assess the effects of polyphenol-rich foods or diets rather than extracts or supplements. Sixth, specific instructions should be provided to the volunteers regarding polyphenol intake from other sources during the study, keeping in mind that advice for a polyphenol-free diet during a long period generates an unconventional situation that may affect the validity of the results. Other sleep-affecting food constituents, such as caffeine, should also be restricted or monitored. Among the studies reviewed herein, one prescribed a resveratrol-free diet (61), while others had recommendations about caffeine (59, 63, 70) and cocoa (95) consumption. Finally, since meal timing (99, 100) may also influence sleep, it would be relevant to monitor and set timing of polyphenol intake in supplementation studies. For example, resveratrol has opposing effects on oxidative status depending on time of day (101). In most studies participants were asked to consume the product some time before going to bed, although others suggested consumption with meals (66), most often breakfast and lunch (59). This is related to the mechanism of action to be explored; while some of the mechanisms described above, such as the relationship with GABA, would be more immediate, aspects related to microbiota would have a long-term effect and would not be effective if consumed right before sleeping. Two of the animal studies (26, 29) suggested circadian rhythm-dependent differences for the effects of baicalin and resveratrol, since they did not exert the same effects regarding parameters related to sleepiness/wake state, depending on time of day (101) and, in particular, baicalin exerted somnogenic effects 8 h after administration. Despite these limitations, it is important to note that all intervention studies were double-blind trials, reducing the risk of bias.

Research on polyphenol health effects has come a long way during the last decades. Since their first characterization as dietary antioxidants, other mechanisms of action were identified and, today, their role in the modulation of cardiometabolic alterations is well established (102, 103). Ongoing research is also showing that brain may be another target organ of dietary polyphenol and, while most studies up to this moment have been focused on other aspects such as cognitive

function, this review shows that polyphenols may also have a beneficial effect on sleep. Upcoming research, combining properly designed intervention and observational studies, with mechanistic studies in animal models considering nutritional doses, are needed to elucidate whether polyphenols are implicated in sleep health.

### Practice Points

Current evidence on polyphenol intake and sleep parameters show:

1. Significant improvements, as compared to a ~~control~~[non-supplemented group \(control\)](#), in SOL, sleep duration, REMS and NREMS, in preclinical studies.
2. Beneficial effects on sleep quality, although they were mostly based on self-reported sleep in placebo-controlled randomized clinical trials.
3. Several mechanisms of action, notably a role on GABA<sub>R</sub> receptors.

### Research Agenda

The following aspects are relevant for future studies on polyphenols and sleep:

1. Animal studies should focus on nutritional doses.
2. Observational and intervention studies include both objective and self-reported sleep assessment whenever possible.
3. Intervention studies should be designed considering a sleep parameter as primary outcome.

## Acknowledgements

J. Pérez-Jiménez's stay at Columbia University [as visiting scholar](#) was funded by the Spanish Ministry of Universities, Mobility Program for Senior Researchers/Fulbright Commission, USA (PRX21/00637). M-P St-Onge is funded by NHLBI R01HL142648 and R35HL155670. [RM Lamuela-Raventós is funded by PID2020-114022RB-I00 and CIBEROBN from the Instituto de Salud Carlos III, ISCIII from the Ministerio de Ciencia, Innovación y Universidades, \(AEI/FEDER, UE\), 2R01HL118264-09 and 5R01HL118264 and Generalitat de Catalunya \(GC\) \[2021-SGR-00334\]. INSA-UB is María de Maeztu Unit of Excellence \(grant CEX2021-001234-M funded by MICIN/AEI/FEDER, UE\).](#)

Con formato: Inglés (Estados Unidos)

Con formato: Justificado

Con formato: Inglés (Estados Unidos)

Con formato: Inglés (Estados Unidos)

Con formato: Inglés (Estados Unidos)

Con formato: Fuente: (Predeterminada) Arial

## Conflict of interest statement

[The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.](#)

Con formato: Fuente: Negrita

## References

1. St-Onge MP, Grandner MA, Brown D, Conroy MB, Jean-Louis G, Coons M, et al. Sleep duration and quality: Impact on lifestyle behaviors and cardiometabolic health: A scientific statement from the american heart association. *Circulation*. 2016;134:e367-e86.
2. Guimaraes KC, Silva CM, Latorraca COC, Oliveira RA, Crispim CA. Is self-reported short sleep duration associated with obesity? A systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Nutr Rev*. 2022;80:983-1000.
3. Rosique-Esteban N, Papandreou C, Romaguera D, Warnberg J, Corella D, Martinez-Gonzalez MA, et al. Cross-sectional associations of objectively-measured sleep characteristics with obesity and type 2 diabetes in the predimed-plus trial. *Sleep*. 2018;41.
4. Aggarwal B, Makarem N, Shah R, Emin M, Wei Y, St-Onge MP, et al. Effects of inadequate sleep on blood pressure and endothelial inflammation in women: Findings from the american heart association go red for women strategically focused research network. *J Am Heart Assoc*. 2018;7.

Con formato: Español (España)

Con formato: Inglés (Estados Unidos)



5. Makarem N, Castro-Diehl C, St-Onge MP, Redline S, Shea S, Lloyd-Jones D, et al. Redefining cardiovascular health to include sleep: Prospective associations with cardiovascular disease in the mesa sleep study. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2022;11:e025252.
6. Cable J, Schernhammer E, Hanlon EC, Vetter C, Cedernaes J, Makarem N, et al. Sleep and circadian rhythms: Pillars of health—a keystone symposia report. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2021;1506:18-34.
7. Grandner MA, Fernandez FX. The translational neuroscience of sleep: A contextual framework. *Science.* 2021;374:568-73.
8. Zuraikat FM, Wood RA, Barragan R, St-Onge MP. Sleep and diet: Mounting evidence of a cyclical relationship. *Annu Rev Nutr.* 2021;41:309-32.
9. St-Onge MP, Crawford A, Aggarwal B. Plant-based diets: Reducing cardiovascular risk by improving sleep quality? *Curr Sleep Med Rep.* 2018;4:74-8.
10. Scoditti E, Tumolo MR, Garbarino S. Mediterranean diet on sleep: A health alliance. *Nutrients.* 2022;14.
11. Tresserra-Rimbau A, Castro-Barquero S, Becerra-Tomas N, Babio N, Martinez-Gonzalez MA, Corella D, et al. Adopting a high-polyphenolic diet is associated with an improved glucose profile: Prospective analysis within the predimed-plus trial. *Antioxidants (Basel).* 2022;11.
12. Tresserra-Rimbau A, Rimm EB, Medina-Reimon A, Martinez-Gonzalez MA, de la Torre R, Corella D, et al. Inverse association between habitual polyphenol intake and incidence of cardiovascular events in the predimed study. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2014;24:639-47.
13. Spencer JP. Beyond antioxidants: The cellular and molecular interactions of flavonoids and how these underpin their actions on the brain. *Proc Nutr Soc.* 2010;69:244-60.
14. Angelino D, Carregosa D, Domenech-Coca C, Savi M, Figueira I, Brindani N, et al. 5-(hydroxyphenyl)-gamma-valerolactone-sulfate, a key microbial metabolite of flavan-3-ols, is able

Con formato: Español (España)

Con formato: Inglés (Estados Unidos)

to reach the brain: Evidence from different in silico, in vitro and in vivo experimental models. *Nutrients*. 2019;11.

15. Espin JC, Gonzalez-Sarrias A, Tomas-Barberan FA. The gut microbiota: A key factor in the therapeutic effects of (poly)phenols. *Biochem Pharmacol*. 2017;139:82-93.

16. Serra D AL, Teresa CP. Dietary polyphenols: A novel strategy to modulate microbiota-gut brain axis. *Trends Food Sci Technol*. 2018;78:224-33.

17. Osakabe N, Fushimi T, Fujii Y. Hormetic response to b-type procyanidin ingestion involves stress-related neuromodulation via the gut-brain axis: Preclinical and clinical observations. *Front Nutr*. 2022;9:969823.

18. Cho S, Yang H, Jeon YJ, Lee CJ, Jin YH, Baek NI, et al. Phlorotannins of the edible brown seaweed *Ecklonia cava* Kjellman induce sleep via positive allosteric modulation of gamma-aminobutyric acid type a-benzodiazepine receptor: A novel neurological activity of seaweed polyphenols. *Food Chem*. 2012;132:1133-42.

19. Cho S, Yoon M, Pae AN, Jin YH, Cho NC, Takata Y, et al. Marine polyphenol phlorotannins promote non-rapid eye movement sleep in mice via the benzodiazepine site of the gabaa receptor. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*. 2014;231:2825-37.

20. Yoon M, Cho S. Triphlorethol a, a dietary polyphenol from seaweed, decreases sleep latency and increases non-rapid eye movement sleep in mice. *Mar Drugs*. 2018;16.

21. Kwon S, Yoon M, Lee J, Moon KD, Kim D, Kim SB, et al. A standardized phlorotannin supplement attenuates caffeine-induced sleep disruption in mice. *Nutrients*. 2019;11.

22. Yoon M, Kim JS, Seo S, Lee K, Um MY, Lee J, et al. Dieckol, a major marine polyphenol, enhances non-rapid eye movement sleep in mice via the gaba(a)-benzodiazepine receptor. *Front Pharmacol*. 2020;11:494.

23. Fernandez S, Wasowski C, Paladini AC, Marder M. Sedative and sleep-enhancing properties of linarin, a flavonoid-isolated from *Valeriana officinalis*. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*. 2004;77:399-404.

24. Wang LE, Bai YJ, Shi XR, Cui XY, Cui SY, Zhang F, et al. Spinosin, a c-glycoside flavonoid from semen ziziphi spinosae, potentiated pentobarbital-induced sleep via the serotonergic system. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav.* 2008;90:399-403.
25. Wang LE, Cui XY, Cui SY, Cao JX, Zhang J, Zhang YH, et al. Potentiating effect of spinosin, a c-glycoside flavonoid of semen ziziphi spinosae, on pentobarbital-induced sleep may be related to postsynaptic 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptors. *Phytomedicine.* 2010;17:404-9.
26. Chang HH, Yi PL, Cheng CH, Lu CY, Hsiao YT, Tsai YF, et al. Biphasic effects of baicalin, an active constituent of *Scutellaria baicalensis* Georgi, in the spontaneous sleep-wake regulation. *J Ethnopharmacol.* 2011;135:359-68.
27. Shrestha S, Park JH, Lee DY, Cho JG, Cho S, Yang HJ, et al. Rhus parviflora and its biflavonoid constituent, rhusflavone, induce sleep through the positive allosteric modulation of GABA<sub>A</sub>-benzodiazepine receptors. *J Ethnopharmacol.* 2012;142:213-20.
28. Park KS, Han JY, Moon DC, Hong JT, Oh KW. (-)-epigallocatechin-3-O-gallate augments pentobarbital-induced sleeping behaviors through Cl<sup>-</sup> channel activation. *J Med Food.* 2011;14:1456-62.
29. Pifferi F, Rahman A, Languille S, Auffret A, Babiloni C, Blin O, et al. Effects of dietary resveratrol on the sleep-wake cycle in the non-human primate gray mouse lemur (*Microcebus murinus*). *Chronobiol Int.* 2012;29:261-70.
30. Cho S, Kim S, Jin Z, Yang H, Han D, Baek NI, et al. Isoliquiritigenin, a chalcone compound, is a positive allosteric modulator of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors and shows hypnotic effects. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2011;413:637-42.
31. Cho S YM, Kim D, Kim JS, Yang H, Lee CH, Kim IH, Shimizu M, Han D. Effect of the licorice flavonoid isoliquiritigenin on the sleep architecture and profile in mice. *Food Sci Biotechnol.* 2012b;21:1221-25.

32. Makino Y KS, Nishimura Y, Yoshinori T, Huang ZL, Urade Y. Hastatoside and verbenalin are sleep-promoting components in verbena officinalis. *Sleep Biological Rhythms*. 2009;7:211-17.
33. Tu Y, Cheng SX, Sun HT, Ma TZ, Zhang S. Ferulic acid potentiates pentobarbital-induced sleep via the serotonergic system. *Neurosci Lett*. 2012;525:95-9.
34. Shinomiya K, Omichi J, Ohnishi R, Ito H, Yoshida T, Kamei C. Effects of chlorogenic acid and its metabolites on the sleep-wakefulness cycle in rats. *Eur J Pharmacol*. 2004;504:185-9.
35. Kwon YO, Hong JT, Oh KW. Rosmarinic acid potentiates pentobarbital-induced sleep behaviors and non-rapid eye movement (nrem) sleep through the activation of gaba(a)-ergic systems. *Biomol Ther (Seoul)*. 2017;25:105-11.
36. Kim TH, Bormate KJ, Custodio RJP, Cheong JH, Lee BK, Kim HJ, et al. Involvement of the adenosine a(1) receptor in the hypnotic effect of rosmarinic acid. *Biomed Pharmacother*. 2022;146:112483.
37. Ma Y MH, Jo YJ, Kim DS, Woo SS, Li R, Hong JT, Moon DC, Oh KW, Eun JS. Honokiol potentiates pentobarbital-induced sleeping behaviors through gaba<sub>a</sub> receptor cl channel activation. *Biomol Ther (Seoul)*. 2008;16:328-35.
38. Qu WM, Yue XF, Sun Y, Fan K, Chen CR, Hou YP, et al. Honokiol promotes non-rapid eye movement sleep via the benzodiazepine site of the gaba(a) receptor in mice. *Br J Pharmacol*. 2012;167:587-98.
39. Yang Y, Wang T, Guan J, Wang J, Chen J, Liu X, et al. Oral delivery of honokiol microparticles for nonrapid eye movement sleep. *Mol Pharm*. 2019;16:737-43.
40. Ma H, Kim CS, Ma Y, Nam SY, Kim DS, Woo SS, et al. Magnolol enhances pentobarbital-induced sleeping behaviors: Possible involvement of gabaergic systems. *Phytother Res*. 2009;23:1340-4.

Con formato: Inglés (Estados Unidos)

41. Chen CR, Zhou XZ, Luo YJ, Huang ZL, Urade Y, Qu WM. Magnolol, a major bioactive constituent of the bark of magnolia officinalis, induces sleep via the benzodiazepine site of gaba(a) receptor in mice. *Neuropharmacology*. 2012;63:1191-9.
42. Cho S, Park JH, Pae AN, Han D, Kim D, Cho NC, et al. Hypnotic effects and gabaergic mechanism of licorice (glycyrrhiza glabra) ethanol extract and its major flavonoid constituent glabrol. *Bioorg Med Chem*. 2012;20:3493-501.
43. Oishi K, Okauchi H, Yamamoto S, Higo-Yamamoto S. Dietary natural cocoa ameliorates disrupted circadian rhythms in locomotor activity and sleep-wake cycles in mice with chronic sleep disorders caused by psychophysiological stress. *Nutrition*. 2020;75-76:110751.
44. Guo R, Shi AM, Deng L, Li L, Wang LC, Oteng AB, et al. Flavonoid-like components of peanut stem and leaf extract promote sleep by decreasing neuronal excitability. *Mol Nutr Food Res*. 2022;66:e2100210.
45. Zheng X LC, Wang N, Zhao Z, Liu M. Optimization of processing technology of instant jujube powder and evaluation of its sleep improvement effect. *Science Technol Food Industry*. 2022;43:196-204.
46. Phenol-explorer: An online comprehensive database on polyphenol contents in foods [Internet]. 2010.
47. Hmdb: The human metabolome database [Internet]. 2007.
48. Cirelli C, Tononi G. Is sleep essential? *PLoS Biol*. 2008;6:e216.
49. Long S, Ding R, Wang J, Yu Y, Lu J, Yao D. Sleep quality and electroencephalogram delta power. *Front Neurosci*. 2021;15:803507.
50. Godos J, Ferri R, Castellano S, Angelino D, Mena P, Del Rio D, et al. Specific dietary (poly)phenols are associated with sleep quality in a cohort of italian adults. *Nutrients*. 2020;12.
51. Al-Musharaf S, AlAjllan L, Aljuraiban G, AlSuhaibani M, Alafif N, Hussain SD. Nutritional biomarkers and factors correlated with poor sleep status among young females: A case-control study. *Nutrients*. 2022;14.

Con formato: Español (España)

52. Golmohammadi A ES, Shiraseb F, Asjodi F, Hosseini AM, Mirzaei K. The association between dietary polyphenols intake and sleep quality, and mental health in overweight and obese women. *Pharma Nutrition*. 2023;24.
53. Noorwali E, Hardie L, Cade J. Fruit and vegetable consumption and their polyphenol content are inversely associated with sleep duration: Prospective associations from the uk women's cohort study. *Nutrients*. 2018;10.
54. Castro-Diehl C, Wood AC, Redline S, Reid M, Johnson DA, Maras JE, et al. Mediterranean diet pattern and sleep duration and insomnia symptoms in the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. *Sleep*. 2018;41.
55. Gupta K, Jansen EC, Campos H, Baylin A. Associations between sleep duration and mediterranean diet score in costa rican adults. *Appetite*. 2022;170:105881.
56. Tresserra-Rimbau A, Medina-Remon A, Perez-Jimenez J, Martinez-Gonzalez MA, Covas MI, Corella D, et al. Dietary intake and major food sources of polyphenols in a spanish population at high cardiovascular risk: The predimed study. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis*. 2013;23:953-9.
57. Perez-Jimenez J, Fezeu L, Touvier M, Arnault N, Manach C, Hercberg S, et al. Dietary intake of 337 polyphenols in french adults. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2011;93:1220-8.
58. Bondonno NP, Dalgaard F, Kyro C, Murray K, Bondonno CP, Lewis JR, et al. Flavonoid intake is associated with lower mortality in the danish diet cancer and health cohort. *Nat Commun*. 2019;10:3651.
59. Zhang S, Takano J, Murayama N, Tominaga M, Abe T, Park I, et al. Subacute ingestion of caffeine and oolong tea increases fat oxidation without affecting energy expenditure and sleep architecture: A randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blinded cross-over trial. *Nutrients*. 2020;12.

Con formato: Inglés (Estados Unidos)

Con formato: Inglés (Estados Unidos)

60. Unno K, Noda S, Kawasaki Y, Yamada H, Morita A, Iguchi K, et al. Reduced stress and improved sleep quality caused by green tea are associated with a reduced caffeine content. *Nutrients*. 2017;9.
61. de Ligt M, Bergman M, Fuentes RM, Essers H, Moonen-Kornips E, Havekes B, et al. No effect of resveratrol supplementation after 6 months on insulin sensitivity in overweight adults: A randomized trial. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2020;112:1029-38.
62. Falcone PH, Nieman KM, Tribby AC, Vogel RM, Joy JM, Moon JR, et al. The attention-enhancing effects of spearmint extract supplementation in healthy men and women: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel trial. *Nutr Res*. 2019;64:24-38.
63. Park I, Ochiai R, Ogata H, Kayaba M, Hari S, Hibi M, et al. Effects of subacute ingestion of chlorogenic acids on sleep architecture and energy metabolism through activity of the autonomic nervous system: A randomised, placebo-controlled, double-blinded cross-over trial. *Br J Nutr*. 2017;117:979-84.
64. Chouchou F, Desseilles M. Heart rate variability: A tool to explore the sleeping brain? *Front Neurosci*. 2014;8:402.
65. Ochiai R, Tomonobu K, Ikushima I. Effect of chlorogenic acids on fatigue and sleep in healthy males: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover study. *Food Sci Nutr*. 2018;6:2530-6.
66. Ghadimi M HS, Nooshabadi MR, Kavianpour M, Haghghian HK. The effect of ellagic acid on sleep quality in patients with type 2 diabetes: A randomized double blind clinical trial. *Intl J Diabetes Developing Countries*. 2021;41:29-36.
67. Pennisi M, Bertino G, Gagliano C, Malaguarnera M, Bella R, Borzi AM, et al. Resveratrol in hepatitis c patients treated with pegylated-interferon-alpha-2b and ribavirin reduces sleep disturbance. *Nutrients*. 2017;9.

68. Um MY, Kim JY, Han JK, Kim J, Yang H, Yoon M, et al. Phlorotannin supplement decreases wake after sleep onset in adults with self-reported sleep disturbance: A randomized, controlled, double-blind clinical and polysomnographic study. *Phytother Res*. 2018;32:698-704.
69. Romain C, Alcaraz PE, Chung LH, Cases J. Regular consumption of holisfiit, a polyphenol-rich extract-based food supplement, improves mind and body well-being of overweight and slightly obese volunteers: A randomized, double-blind, parallel trial. *Int J Food Sci Nutr*. 2017;68:840-8.
70. Tubbs AS, Kennedy KER, Alfonso-Miller P, Wills CCA, Grandner MA. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of a polyphenol botanical blend on sleep and daytime functioning. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2021;18.
71. Nazari Z AZ, Hejazi E, Mobarakeh ZS, Rakhsha A, Houshyari M, Bahrami AR. Effects of grape juice consumption on fatigue and sleep quality in women with breast cancer during radiation therapy- controlled clinical trial. *Iranian J Nutri Sci Food Technol*. 2022;17:19-29.
72. Lin JK LC, Liang YC, Lin SY, Juan IM. Survery of catechins, gallic acid, and methylxanthines in green, oolong, pu-erh, and black teas. *J Agric Food Chem*. 1998;46:3635-42.
73. Shafabakhsh R, Milajerdi A, Reiner Z, Kolehdooz F, Amirani E, Mirzaei H, et al. The effects of catechin on endothelial function: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr*. 2020;60:2369-78.
74. Scientific opinion on the modification of the authorisation of a health claim related to cocoa flavanols and maintenance of normal endothelium dependent vasodilation pursuant to article 13(5) of regulation (ec) no 1924/20061 following a request in accordance with article 19 of regulaiton (ec) no 1924/2006, (2014).
75. Cooper DC, Ziegler MG, Milic MS, Ancoli-Israel S, Mills PJ, Loreda JS, et al. Endothelial function and sleep: Associations of flow-mediated dilation with perceived sleep quality and rapid eye movement (rem) sleep. *J Sleep Res*. 2014;23:84-93.



76. Gautier-Sauvigne S, Colas D, Parmantier P, Clement P, Gharib A, Sarda N, et al. Nitric oxide and sleep. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2005;9:101-13.
77. Song D, Ho CT, Zhang X, Wu Z, Cao J. Modulatory effect of cyclocarya paliurus flavonoids on the intestinal microbiota and liver clock genes of circadian rhythm disorder mice model. *Food Res Int.* 2020;138:109769.
78. Sun Y, Ho CT, Liu Y, Zhan S, Wu Z, Zheng X, et al. The modulatory effect of cyclocarya paliurus flavonoids on intestinal microbiota and hypothalamus clock genes in a circadian rhythm disorder mouse model. *Nutrients.* 2022;14.
79. Miranda J, Portillo MP, Madrid JA, Arias N, Macarulla MT, Garaulet M. Effects of resveratrol on changes induced by high-fat feeding on clock genes in rats. *Br J Nutr.* 2013;110:1421-8.
80. Hironao KY, Mitsuhashi Y, Huang S, Oike H, Ashida H, Yamashita Y. Cacao polyphenols regulate the circadian clock gene expression and through glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion. *J Clin Biochem Nutr.* 2020;67:53-60.
81. Ribas-Latre A, Del Bas JM, Baselga-Escudero L, Casanova E, Arola-Arnal A, Salvado MJ, et al. Dietary proanthocyanidins modulate melatonin levels in plasma and the expression pattern of clock genes in the hypothalamus of rats. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* 2015;59:865-78.
82. Wang Z, Wang Z, Lu T, Chen W, Yan W, Yuan K, et al. The microbiota-gut-brain axis in sleep disorders. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2022;65:101691.
83. Wu Y, Liu W, Li Q, Li Y, Yan Y, Huang F, et al. Dietary chlorogenic acid regulates gut microbiota, serum-free amino acids and colonic serotonin levels in growing pigs. *Int J Food Sci Nutr.* 2018;69:566-73.
84. Zhang Y, Cheng L, Liu Y, Zhang R, Wu Z, Cheng K, et al. Omics analyses of intestinal microbiota and hypothalamus clock genes in circadian disturbance model mice fed with green tea polyphenols. *J Agric Food Chem.* 2022;70:1890-901.

Con formato: Español (España)

Con formato: Inglés (Estados Unidos)

85. Zhao W, Wang J, Bi W, Ferruzzi M, Yemul S, Freire D, et al. Novel application of brain-targeting polyphenol compounds in sleep deprivation-induced cognitive dysfunction. *Neurochem Int.* 2015;89:191-7.
86. Li H, Yu F, Sun X, Xu L, Miu J, Xiao P. Dihydromyricetin ameliorates memory impairment induced by acute sleep deprivation. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 2019;853:220-8.
87. Olonode ET, Aderibigbe AO, Adeoluwa OA, Eduviere AT, Ben-Azu B. Morin hydrate mitigates rapid eye movement sleep deprivation-induced neurobehavioural impairments and loss of viable neurons in the hippocampus of mice. *Behav Brain Res.* 2019;356:518-25.
88. Wang W, Yang L, Liu T, Wang J, Wen A, Ding Y. Ellagic acid protects mice against sleep deprivation-induced memory impairment and anxiety by inhibiting tlr4 and activating nrf2. *Aging (Albany NY).* 2020;12:10457-72.
89. Arora S, Venugopalan A, Dharavath RN, Bishnoi M, Kondepudi KK, Chopra K. Naringenin ameliorates chronic sleep deprivation-induced pain via sirtuin1 inhibition. *Neurochem Res.* 2021;46:1177-87.
90. Forouzanfar F, Gholami J, Foroughnia M, Payvar B, Nemati S, Khodadadegan MA, et al. The beneficial effects of green tea on sleep deprivation-induced cognitive deficits in rats: The involvement of hippocampal antioxidant defense. *Heliyon.* 2021;7:e08336.
91. Frolinger T, Smith C, Cobo CF, Sims S, Brathwaite J, de Boer S, et al. Dietary polyphenols promote resilience against sleep deprivation-induced cognitive impairment by activating protein translation. *FASEB J.* 2018;32:5390-404.
92. Wang W, Yang L, Liu T, Ma Y, Huang S, He M, et al. Corilagin ameliorates sleep deprivation-induced memory impairments by inhibiting nox2 and activating nrf2. *Brain Res Bull.* 2020;160:141-9.
93. Nasehi M, Mohammadi-Mahdiabadi-Hasani MH, Zarrindast MR, Zarrabian S. Punicalagin effect on total sleep deprivation memory deficit in male wistar rats. *J Integr Neurosci.* 2021;20:87-93.

Con formato: Inglés (Estados Unidos)

94. Yang H, Xie J, Mu W, Ruan X, Zhang J, Yao L, et al. Tea polyphenols protect learning and memory in sleep-deprived mice by promoting ampa receptor internalization. *Neuroreport*. 2020;31:857-64.

Con formato: Inglés (Estados Unidos)

95. Grassi D, Socci V, Tempesta D, Ferri C, De Gennaro L, Desideri G, et al. Flavanol-rich chocolate acutely improves arterial function and working memory performance counteracting the effects of sleep deprivation in healthy individuals. *J Hypertens*. 2016;34:1298-308.

96. Pedemonte M RF, Testa M, Velluti RA, Dajas F, Nadruz E. Achyrocline satureioides (lam) d.C would improve sleep quality in patients with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: A pilot study. *Sleep Science*. 2013;6:135-40.

97. Zhang P, Wang Y, Wang H, Cao J. Sesamol alleviates chronic intermittent hypoxia-induced cognitive deficits via inhibiting oxidative stress and inflammation in rats. *Neuroreport*. 2021;32:105-11.

98. Reagan-Shaw S, Nihal M, Ahmad N. Dose translation from animal to human studies revisited. *FASEB J*. 2008;22:659-61.

99. Faris ME, Vitiello MV, Abdelrahim DN, Cheikh Ismail L, Jahrami HA, Khaleel S, et al. Eating habits are associated with subjective sleep quality outcomes among university students: Findings of a cross-sectional study. *Sleep Breath*. 2022;26:1365-76.

100. Sasawaki Y, Inokawa H, Obata Y, Nagao S, Yagita K. Association of social jetlag and eating patterns with sleep quality and daytime sleepiness in Japanese high school students. *J Sleep Res*. 2023;32:e13661.

101. Gadacha W, Ben-Attia M, Bonnefont-Rousselot D, Aouani E, Ghanem-Boughanmi N, Touitou Y. Resveratrol opposite effects on rat tissue lipoperoxidation: Pro-oxidant during daytime and antioxidant at night. *Redox Rep*. 2009;14:154-8.

Con formato: Inglés (Estados Unidos)

102. Li T, Zhao Y, Yuan L, Zhang D, Feng Y, Hu H, et al. Total dietary flavonoid intake and risk of cardiometabolic diseases: A dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr*. 2022:1-13.

103. Ruskovska T, Maksimova V, Milenkovic D. Polyphenols in human nutrition: From the in vitro antioxidant capacity to the beneficial effects on cardiometabolic health and related inter-individual variability - an overview and perspective. *Br J Nutr.* 2020;123:241-54.